A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. Dwight Benson's Fourteenth Amendment right to equal 

protection was violated where the State improperly used a peremptory 

strike to remove the sole juror of the defendant's race. 

2. The trial court exceeded its authority in imposing a combined 

sentence of imprisonment and community custody, in violation of 

RCW 9.94A.701 's provision that the terms of both incarceration and 

supervision must each be determinate and together must not exceed the 

statutory maximum applicable to the offense of conviction. 

3. The court failed to file findings as required by CrR 3.5. 

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. A prosecutor's proffered race-neutral reasons for the 

peremptory excusal of the sole remaining African-American juror on 

the petit jury of an African-American criminal defendant cannot be 

accepted by the trial court performing the third and ultimate step of the 

Batson! Equal Protection analysis where the reasons for the strike are 

unsupported by the record, are "pretextual" because similar non

minority jurors were not excused from sitting, or are mere "proxy" 

reasons for racially-motivated excusal. Here, the trial court found that 

I Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79, 106 S.Ct. 1712,90 L.Ed.2d 69 
(1986). 
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the State's reasons for excusal ofthe lone remaining African-American 

juror bore no relation to any trial strategy of the defense, but permitted 

the strike because the prosecutor offered a "reason." However, the 

reasons offered were pretextual because like jurors were not struck, and 

in any event, the fact that juror 9 felt "a little" that she had been treated 

differently by a police officer in the past was not a proper reason to 

remove her, as it was merely a bald proxy for race. Should this Court 

find clear error in the trial court's Batson ruling? 

2. The Sentencing Reform Act (SRA) is the sole source of a 

trial court's sentencing authority. Recently-enacted RCW 

9.94A.701(9) requires that, where the combined term of community 

custody and confinement exceed the statutory maximum for an offense, 

the court must reduce the term of community custody. Where the trial 

court imposed a 60-month sentence of imprisonment, the maximum 

term for his felony conviction, and imposed a 12-month term of 

community custody, must this Court correct the erroneous sentence? 

3. Did the court fail to file findings as required by CrR 3.5? 

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Dwight Benson failed to brake in time at a red light to avoid 

making contact with the car stopped in front of him, causing slight 
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discoloration to the other vehicle ' s finish. 11117111RP at 141. He was 

driving approximately 30 miles per hour. 12/21111RP at 295-96. 

Another driver on the roadway said that Mr. Benson swerved around 

her, just before the accident at the light. 11117111RP at 211. 

After police arrived on the scene, Mr. Benson was photographed 

from a squad car camera, as the officer put Mr. Benson through a 

standard series ofField Sobriety Tests (FST). Mr. Benson admitted to 

the officer at the scene that he had been drinking. 11 /21111RP at 263. 

The trial court later concluded that Mr. Benson was not in custody for 

purposes of Miranda when he made this statement. 11117111RP at 127. 

Mr. Benson was charged with Felony Driving Under the 

Influence (Felony DUI) based on four prior DUI convictions within the 

previous ten years, per RCW 46.61.502 and 46.61.5055 , Reckless 

Driving per RCW 46.61.500, and Driving While License Suspended in 

the First Degree per RCW 46.20.342(1)(a). CP 1-7. Attrial, the 

arresting officer testified that Mr. Benson would not submit to testing 

using the Blood Alcohol Content (BAC) machine at the precinct. 

11121111RP at 284. 

Mr. Benson testified that he was injured in the Navy and had not 

been impaired by alcohol at the time of the incident. 11122111RP at 
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400. The defense investigator noted that the other driver who 

encountered the defendant at the scene did not state that Mr. Benson 

smelled like alcohol. 111211RP at 377,379. 

Mr. Benson was convicted of Felony DUI by the jury along with 

reckless driving and driving with a suspended license. 11123111RP at 

530; CP 23-25. He was ordered to serve 60 months incarceration on 

the felony conviction, for a total of 72 months incarceration including 

12 month terms on the misdemeanors, with the sentence for reckless 

driving suspended. 12/9111RP at 3-26; CP 123, 132. 

Mr. Benson appeals. CP 135. 
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D.ARGUMENT 

1. THE PROSECUTOR'S PROFFERED RACE
NEUTRAL REASON FOR EXCUSAL OF 
JUROR 9 WAS BOTH PRETEXTUAL AND A 
MERE PROXY FOR RACE, DEMONSTRATING 
CLEAR ERROR IN THE COURT'S REJECTION 
OF MR. BENSON'S BATSON CHALLENGE. 

a. Batson v. Kentucky and peremptory challenges. 

A defendant challenging the State's peremptory removal of a 

juror of a protected class must first make a prima facie showing of 

discrimination by raising an inference that the strike was based on race. 

Batson v. Kentucky, supra, 476 U.S. at 93-94. If this is accomplished, 

the State must then proffer a specific and facially race-neutral reason 

for striking the juror. Batson, 476 U.S. at 94; Miller-El v. Dretke, 545 

U.S. 231, 239,125 S.Ct. 2317,162 L.Ed.2d 196 (2005). Third and 

finally, the trial court must determine from all the circumstances ifthe 

proffered race-neutral reason is believable, or if the defendant has 

established purposeful discrimination in jury selection by the State's 

use of the strike. Batson, 476 U.S. at 98. 

h. Jury Selection. 

Voir dire. Voir dire and jury selection in Mr. Benson's criminal 

case was conducted on November 16 and 17,2011. Juror 9, Ms. 

Graham, was one ofa total of two potential African-American jurors, 
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along with juror 13. 11116/11RP at 617,620. Juror 9 was not among 

the potential jurors that sought excusal for hardship. 11/16/11RP at 

546. Juror 9 was also not among those who felt she could not be fair in 

the case. 11/16/11RP at 569. Juror 9 also had a close friend or relative 

who was or had been a law enforcement officer. 11116/11RP at 550. 

Juror 9 was, however, among a large number of potential jurors 

who raised their number card when asked by the court if they had ever 

had an unpleasant experience with a police officer (as had jurors 16,23, 

28,36,37, and 41). 11/16/11RP at 550. 

Juror 28 stated he was stopped by police for his driving in 

connection with another truck on the roadway. The police officer was 

"chummy" with the other driver and assumed juror 28 was at fault. 

The officer would not listen to juror 28' s account, and did not treat him 

fairly. 11/16/11RP at 608-09. 

Juror 9, Ms. Graham, stated that she had once been stopped by 

the police for having expired tabs. She explained to the officer that she 

had purchased the tabs, but they had not yet been put on her car. Juror 

9 stated that she "felt a little" like the officer was using the stop to seek 

out other matters, because he looked past her into her vehicle, but she 

also stated the officer had treated her fairly. 11/16/11RP at 609-10. 
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Peremptory strikes and Batson challenge. During peremptory 

excusals, the State used one of its peremptory challenges to dismiss 

juror 13, the other African-American potential juror, who had stated in 

voir dire that in order to find a person guilty of drunk driving he would 

prefer to see scientific proof of the defendant ' s alcohol intoxication. 

11116/11RP at 617, see 11/16/11RP at 602-03. Mr. Benson's counsel 

indicated he had no objection to the State ' s peremptory excusal of juror 

13, given that statement.2 

However, the defense strenuously objected under Batson to the 

State's peremptory excusal of Juror 9. 11/16/11RP at 617. Contending 

that there was a prima facie case of discrimination shown, counsel 

argued that juror 9' s excusal had left zero African-American jurors on 

the petit jury, in this case where the defendant Mr. Benson was also 

African-American. 11/16/11RP at 617, 620; see CP 128. 

The trial court turned to the prosecutor, who stated that she had 

struck juror 9 because she had a past unpleasant experience with a 

police officer, because of her minority race.3 11/16/11RP at 621. 

2 Interestingly, juror 13 had been the accident victim of a drunk driver. 
11116111 RP at 560-61. 

3 The trial court stated that this jibed with its impression of juror 9's 
statements. 1 111611 lRP at 624. 
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The trial prosecutor initially offered two concerns in regard to 

juror 9, who the prosecutor stated she had liked during initial 

questioning. 11/16/11 RP at 621. First, the prosecutor stated that 

defense counsel seemed to be making much of the fact that the juror 

had felt harassed by police because she was African-American, and 

might be planning to make something similar an issue in the present 

case. 11116/11RP at 621. The prosecutor acknowledged that Mr. 

Benson was African-American, but stated that race was not going to be 

an issue in the trial, because the person who Mr. Benson allegedly hit 

with his car was also a racial minority.4 11116111RP at 621. 

Second, the prosecutor stated that she was concerned that juror 9 

would have "some bad view" of the police officers in the case, since 

they focused their investigation of the collision on the defendant, who 

is African-American. 11116111RP at 621. The prosecutor stated that 

Juror 9 "seemed to have a situation where [she] felt like [she was] 

singled out and being picked on." 11116111RP at 622.5 

4 The driver of the vehicle allegedly struck by Mr. Benson, as identified 
in the affidavit of probable cause and who testified at trial, was Abdul Hared. CP 
3; 1111711 IRP at 141-42. 

5 The prosecutor was here also stating that juror 9 was like non-minority 
juror 28 [the juror who was stopped and believed the officer did not listen to his 
account]. 1111611 lRP at 622, see 11116/11RP at 608-09. The prosecutor stated 
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Defense counsel responded that Ms. Graham's description of 

being stopped by the officer was completely innocuous and mild, and 

emphasized to the court that numerous other jurors had raised their 

hands and indicated they had had unpleasant experiences with police, 

including juror 6, who had been cited by officers, but had not raised his 

hand when this question was originally asked. 11116/11RP at 621-22. 

Juror 6 had been involved in a single-car accident in which he lost 

control of his car in a construction area and was cited by the police. 

11/16/11RP at 614. 

Batson ruling. The trial court proceeded to Batson's third step, 

and assessed the viability of the prosecutor's proffered reasons for 

peremptory excusal of the final African-American juror, juror 9. 

First, the court addressed the State's contention that it was 

concerned that juror 9 would view the police in Mr. Benson's trial 

badly. The court rejected this contention, stating that although the 

court did not know what the defense theory of the case would be, it was 

clear that the case did not involve a defense that would be based on Mr. 

Benson being stopped unfairly by police. 11/16/11RP at 623. 

that she was "saving a strike" for non-minority juror 28 for this reason, if he had 
been seated in the jury box. 11116111 RP at 622. 
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Second, the court considered, but then rejected, the prosecutor's 

related suggestion that juror 9's account of how she was treated by 

police had any relation to the instant case. The court concluded that 

juror 9's experience had nothing to do with the quality of the police 

investigation of Mr. Benson' s alleged drunk driving. The court stated 

that, although the defense might allege at trial that the police 

investigated Mr. Benson's alleged alcohol level inadequately (there was 

no BAC result because the defendant refused the test), and that the 

prosecutor might believably claim it did not want jurors who had 

negative experiences with the police, juror 9' s experience was common 

to African-Americans, and one that "not necessarily all of our other 

jurors have had." 11/16/11RP at 623. Specifically, the court stated: 

On the other hand, one of the things that is so troubling 
about excusing African Americans from a jury trial is 
that they have had [that] experience, but not necessarily 
all our other jurors have had. I am very mindful of that. 
In this situation, I think this is a very tough case, to be 
honest. 

11/16/11RP at 624. The trial court then more explicitly rejected the 

State's attempt to make a connection between juror 9' s experience and 

some bias going to any issue of inadequate investigation in the case, 

stating that nothing juror 9 said had a relationship to issues about the 
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quality ofthe police investigation of Mr. Benson. 1/16/11RP at 623-

24. 

In response to the court's foregoing analysis, the prosecutor 

protested that counsel ' s pre-trial motions and argument had indicated 

that the defense would be complaining that the police at the scene of 

the collision had focused their investigative efforts on "Mr. Benson, an 

African-American," and not the "other driver." 11/16/11RP at 624. 

Ultimately, however, the trial court permitted the State's 

summary removal of Ms. Graham, disallowing the defense Batson 

challenge. The court repeated its concerns, but appeared to feel bound 

by case law requiring it to allow the State's peremptory strike, since the 

prosecutor had "articulated a reason." 11/16/11RP at 625. The court 

stated: 

I think I have articulated what my concern is here. But, I 
am also mindful that the case law is pretty much a[ n ] 
eviscerated vacuum. And the fact that [the prosecutor] 
Ms. Kanner has articulated a reason, it may be a reason 
that others disagree with. But, it is a reason, and that she 
has made it in good faith. She made a comparison with 
Juror Number 28. If! were on the Supreme Court, I 
might reverse myself; but I think given the case law as it 
stands, I will find that it is reasonable. 

11116/11RP at 625-26. The court therefore denied Mr. Benson's 

Batson challenge. 11116111RP at 626. 
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c. The Fourteenth Amendment prohibits the State from 
striking a juror because of his or her race. 

Mr. Benson objected to the peremptory dismissal of the sole 

remaining African-American potential juror 9, Ms. Graham, under 

Batson v. Kentucky, supra, and the Fourteenth Amendment's equal 

protection clause. U.S. Const. amend. 14.6 

"Peremptory" strikes traditionally allow a party's counsel to 

preclude a potential juror or jurors from sitting on the petit jury for 

reasons that would not justify a challenge for cause, but which the 

litigator believes -- on the basis of hunch, arbitrary assessment, or even 

"unaccountable prejudices" premised on a juror's "looks or gestures" --

may cause the juror to favor the other party, or disfavor the litigant's 

position. Batson, 476 U.S. at 123 (Burger, C.l, dissenting) (citing 

Swain v. Alabama, 380 U.S. 202, 220,85 S.Ct. 824 (1965), and Lewis 

v. United States, 146 U.S. 370, 376, 13 S.Ct. 136 (1892)). 

However, "the State denies a black defendant equal protection 

a/the laws when it puts him on trial before ajury from which members 

of his race have been purposefully excluded." (Emphasis added.) 

Batson, 476 U.S. at 85; U.S. Const. amend. 14. Importantly, Mr. 

6 Under the federal equal protection clause, no State shall "deny to any 
person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws." U.S. Const. 
amend. 14, § 1. 
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Benson's claim of Batson error in no way seeks to attribute racial 

'animus' or hatred to the deputy prosecutor. No such animus is 

required to be shown in order to succeed on a Batson challenge. 

Rather, Batson and its progeny seek to do no more (and no less) than 

identify and outlaw the peremptory removal of minority jurors based on 

racial categorization, wherein a zealous attorney's legitimate goal of 

prevailing in a cause spurs the lawyer to dismiss a juror of a certain 

race because of glib assumptions that the juror's membership in that 

class will cause her to favor one party over the other. Such pre

judgment cannot be permitted to play any role in jury selection in cases 

heard in our courts of law, for doing so would condone attitudes that 

are rooted in historical prejudices our society seeks to eliminate, and 

would establish de Jacto "state-sponsored group stereotypes." See 

Miller-EI v. Dretke, 545 U.S. at 237-38. 

Therefore, under Batson's directive, the courts carefully, and 

unemotionally, apply a three-part analysis to determine whether a 

potential juror was peremptorily challenged on the basis of racial 

categorization. Batson, 476 U.S. at 93. 

Prima Facie Showing. First, the defendant claiming juror 

dismissal based on race must make out a prima facie case by showing 
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that the totality ofthe relevant facts gives rise to an inference of a 

purpose to strike the juror for reasons of their racial class. Batson, 476 

U.S. at 93-94. 

Washington follows a bright-line rule whereby a prima facie 

case of discrimination is categorically established when the State has 

exercised a peremptory challenge against the sole remaining member of 

the defendant's racial group in the venire. State v. Rhone, 168 Wn.2d 

645,659,229 P.3d 752 (2010) (Alexander, l, dissenting); id. at 658 

(Madsen, C.l, concurring and stating that going forth, the rule 

advocated by the four dissenters would apply). Here, Mr. Benson 

satisfied the requirement of a prima facie showing where the trial 

prosecutor' s striking of Ms. Graham resulted in the removal of the only 

remaining African-American juror. 11/16/11RP at 617,620; see CP 

128. 

Of course, a trial court certainly may find the prima facie 

requirement ofthe first step satisfied where the State's peremptory 

strike removed the sole remaining African-American juror on the petit 

jury. State v. Hicks, 163 Wn.2d 477,490,181 P.3d 831 (2008). 

Where, as here, the trial court turned to the prosecutor to address the 

second step of the Batson analysis, the court is deemed to have so 
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found, and the question of whether or not the defendant made out a 

prima facie showing in the first step is not litigable by the State. 

11116111RP at 621; Hicks, 163 Wn.2d at 492. 

Race-Neutral Proffer. Next, the burden shifts to the State to 

proffer a race-neutral reason or reasons for peremptorily striking the 

juror. Batson, 476 U.S. at 94. The prosecutor must give a "clear and 

reasonably specific" reason, not facially predicated on race, for the 

strike. Miller-EI v. Dretke, 545 U.S. at 239. 

PurposefuL Discrimination. 

Under the third and final Batson step, the trial court has the duty 

to synthesize steps two and three, and determine if the defendant has 

established purposeful discrimination under the circumstances. Batson, 

476 U.S . at 98. 

This third step of the equal protection analysis ultimately 

involves the decisive question of whether the prosecutor's proffered 

race-neutral explanation for the peremptory challenge should be 

accepted. Hernandez v. New York, 500 U.S. 352, 365, 111 S.Ct. 1859, 

114 L.Ed.2d 395 (1991). In deciding the third step, the court examines 

all the circumstances - including but not limited to any patterns of 

peremptory challenges, any disproportionate impact of the removals, 
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the questions and answers of the struck juror, and all the jurors' 

answers, which may provide circumstantial evidence relevant to the 

question of discriminatory removal. Batson, 476 U.S. at 93. The 

prosecutor's facially race-neutral basis for excusal of the juror must be 

supported by the record of voir dire, and make sense in the context of 

that entire record. Snyder v. Louisiana, 552 U.S. 472, 478, 128 S.Ct. 

1203, 170 L.Ed.2d 175 (2008). 

In this case the prosecutor began by mischaracterizing juror 9's 

statements as extreme distrust of police conduct. 11/16/11RP at 621. 

Juror 9 expressed concerns - elicited by questioning - that the police 

officer who stopped her car might have been looking through the 

windows to see if he could detect anything else, as he conversed with 

her. 11/16/11RP at 609. However, juror 9 specifically stated that the 

officer had stopped her justifiably, since her tabs were expired. 

11/16/11RP at 609. She also added that the officer treated her fairly in 

terms of what he asked of her. 11/16/11RP at 609. Indeed, Ms. 

Graham indicated that the officer in fact refrained from citing her, and 

did not give her a ticket, for the violation.7 11/16/11RP at 609-10. 

7 A traffic stop for "expired tabs" is lawful, see, e.g., State v. Minh 
Hoang, 101 Wn. App. 732, 742, 6 P.3d 602 (2000), review denied, 142 Wn.2d 
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Defense counsel properly characterized juror 9 as having related 

an innocuous incident. 11116111RP at 625. Furthermore, counsel 

particularly pointed out that another juror, juror 6, had actually been 

cited by police, unlike Ms. Graham. 11116111RP at 622. A court in a

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