68075-7

68075-7

NO. 68075-7-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

DWIGHT BENSON,

Appellant.

RECEIVED  
STATE OF WASHINGTON  
APPELLATE DIVISION  
2012 JUL 10 AM 9:12  


APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE SUSAN CRAIGHEAD

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG  
King County Prosecuting Attorney

DONNA L. WISE  
Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney  
Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney  
W554 King County Courthouse  
516 3rd Avenue  
Seattle, Washington 98104  
(206) 296-9650

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

RP 624.

Defense counsel responded that it is very common for African-American people to feel that they have an "extra duty regarding contact with police" and what Juror 9 said was so innocuous that it was not an appropriate basis for a peremptory challenge. RP 625.

The trial court concluded that the reason articulated by the prosecutor may be a reason that others disagree with but that the prosecutor made the strike "in good faith." RP 626. The court concluded that the reason articulated "was reasonable," rejecting the claim that the challenge was improperly motivated. RP 626.

**b. The Trial Court's Rejection Of The Batson Challenge Was Not Clearly Erroneous.**

The Equal Protection Clause guarantees a defendant the right to be tried by a jury selected free from racial discrimination. U.S. Const. amend. 14; Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79, 85, 106 S. Ct. 1712, 90 L. Ed. 2d 69 (1986). When reviewing a Batson challenge, the trial court undertakes a three-part inquiry to determine whether the challenged juror is being stricken based on purposeful discrimination.

First, a defendant opposing the State's peremptory challenge of a juror must establish a prima facie case of purposeful discrimination. Batson, 476 U.S. at 93-96. Second, if the defendant establishes a prima facie case, then the burden shifts to the State to articulate a race-neutral explanation for challenging the juror. Id. at 97-98. Third, the trial court considers the State's explanation and determines whether the defendant has demonstrated purposeful discrimination. Id. at 98. Although the final step involves evaluating the persuasiveness of the State's explanation, the ultimate burden of persuasion that there has been purposeful discrimination rests with the defendant. Rice v. Collins, 546 U.S. 333, 338, 126 S. Ct. 969, 163 L. Ed. 2d 824 (2006).

The trial court's Batson determination as to the existence of purposeful discrimination is accorded "great deference" by the appellate courts and "upheld unless clearly erroneous." State v. Hicks, 163 Wn.2d 477, 486, 181 P.3d 831, cert. denied, 555 U.S. 919 (2008). The trial court "must evaluate not only whether the prosecutor's demeanor belies a discriminatory intent, but also whether the juror's demeanor can credibly be said to have exhibited the basis for the strike." Snyder v. Louisiana, 552 U.S. 472, 477, 128 S. Ct. 1203, 170 L. Ed. 2d 175 (2008). Determinations of credibility and demeanor are "peculiarly within a trial judge's province" and must be deferred to on appeal absent exceptional circumstances. Id. (citations omitted).

Here, the trial court did not address the first Batson step, requiring the defendant to prove a prima facie case of racial discrimination. Nonetheless, once a prosecutor has offered a race-neutral explanation and the trial court has ruled on the ultimate question of intentional discrimination, the preliminary issue of whether the defendant has made a prima facie showing is moot. Hernandez v. New York, 500 U.S. 352, 359, 111 S. Ct. 1859, 114 L. Ed. 2d 395 (1991); State v. Luvene, 127 Wn.2d 690, 699, 903 P.2d 960 (1995).

The trial court found that the State's race-neutral reason for challenging Juror 9 was reasonable and made in good faith. RP 625-26. The court's comment about the importance of the experience of African-American jurors reveal the court's commitment to ensuring that the jury be impaneled free from racial discrimination. See RP 623. That comment indicates that the court took its obligation to evaluate the State's reason seriously, and that its rejection of the claim of purposeful discrimination deserves great deference.

The reasons provided by the State for excusing Juror 9 were race neutral: the juror's bad experience with a police officer, when police officers were important witnesses in the case and the nature of their investigation could be at issue. A neutral explanation is one based on something other than the race of the juror, and need not rise to the level of justifying a challenge for cause. Batson, 476 U.S. at 98. The reason need not be persuasive or related to the case. Purkett v. Elem, 514 U.S. 765, 767-68, 115 S. Ct. 1769, 131 L. Ed. 2d 834 (1995); Lark v. Sec'y Pennsylvania Dept. of Corr., 645 F.3d 596, 621 (3<sup>rd</sup> Cir. 2011); State v. Vreen, 143 Wn.2d 923, 927, 26 P.3d 236 (2001). Because this explanation was not based on race, it was race-neutral.

Benson's argument that the reason given was a proxy for a race-based challenge is without merit. Unless discriminatory intent is inherent in the explanation, the reason offered is deemed race neutral. Hernandez, 500 U.S. at 360; Moody v. Quarterman, 476 F.3d 260, 267 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir.), cert. denied, 552 U.S. 843 (2007).

It is unclear on what basis Benson claims that the prosecutor mischaracterized Juror 9's statements as extreme distrust of police conduct. App. Br. at 16. The prosecutor did not use the word "extreme" or the word "distrust" at the cited page. RP 621. At that page, the prosecutor said, "It's my concern that she will have some bad view of officers" because of her experience. RP 621. Later, when the prosecutor said she believed that the juror was saying that the juror was "being frankly harassed, and that they were investigating more because she was African-American," the trial judge said, "That is exactly what I thought she was saying." RP 624.

Benson's reliance on State v. Bishop, 959 F.2d 820 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1992), is misplaced. In that case, the court concluded that a prosecutor's reason was not race neutral, where the prosecutor excused a juror because she lived in a predominantly black, violent neighborhood and he believed she would be likely to be

anesthetized to violence and more likely to believe police are unfair. Id. at 825. However, the juror had not stated that she had witnessed violence or police behavior. Id. The Court concluded that the reasons were generic reasons that amounted to little more than an “assumption that one who lives in an area heavily populated by poor black people could not fairly try a black defendant.” Id. In contrast, the prosecutor in the case at bar excused the juror based on answers given by Juror 9 relating to her own experience with a police officer, which the juror had characterized as extremely unpleasant in responding to the court’s general questions.

The court in Bishop distinguished its holding from the Supreme Court’s decision in Hernandez, supra, and observed that a criterion for excusing jurors that has a disparate racial impact does not violate the Constitution, although a criterion that acts as a racial proxy does. Bishop, 959 F.2d at 826. The criterion found to be race neutral in Hernandez was that the prosecutor believed that two Spanish-speaking jurors by their body language indicated that they were uncertain that they could listen only to the interpreter’s version of Spanish spoken in the courtroom. 500 U.S. at 356-57. Just as in this case, the reason was race neutral because it related

to specific responses given by the juror, not assumptions based on stereotypes. See also United States v. Fike, 82 F.3d 1315, 1319-20 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1996) (upholding strike of African-American juror who expressed his concern about racial issues in the criminal justice system).

The other case Benson cites as rejecting a reason for a challenge because it was a proxy for race also is distinguishable. In that case, Turnbull v. State, 959 So.2d 275 (Fla. App. 3 Dist. 2006), rev. denied, 969 So. 2d 1015 (2007), the prosecutor asked the members of the venire if they thought that police racially profile people. Five black venire members answered yes and the State exercised peremptory strikes against four of them and a challenge for cause as to the fifth. Id. at 276. The court concluded that the question was a subterfuge and noted that the racial profiling was not an issue in the case and the question was not used to elicit the jurors' feelings about law enforcement. Id. at 276-77. In contrast, in this case Juror 9's statements that were the basis of the State's challenge were elicited by defense counsel and specifically addressed the juror's negative opinion about law enforcement.

The remaining question is whether Benson has established that the trial court's conclusion that the State's challenge was in

good faith and reasonable, not the result of purposeful discrimination, was clearly erroneous. Snyder, 552 U.S. at 477. Benson has not identified any indication that the challenge was the result of purposeful discrimination.

While Benson describes Juror 9's experience as innocuous, that claim is refuted by the court's agreement with the prosecutor's conclusion that Juror 9 believed that she was harassed by the police because of her race, and that she was investigated more thoroughly because of it. RP 624. Juror 9 characterized it as extremely unpleasant. RP 550.

The trial court observed that there may be an allegation that the investigation by the police in this case was inadequate, especially because there was no blood-alcohol analysis. RP 623. The court continued: "I can see why the State would care about having jurors who had not had negative interactions with the police." RP 623. Benson's claim that he did not make inadequate investigation an issue in pretrial hearings is irrelevant, as certainly it is permissible (and expected) that the prosecutor will anticipate likely defenses at trial in jury selection. As the State anticipated, at trial Benson did challenge the adequacy of the investigation, particularly the failure of the police to take pictures at the scene and



to obtain a search warrant for Benson's blood, developing these arguments on cross-examination and in closing argument.

RP 254-56, 303, 502, 506-07.

Benson's reliance on a comparative juror analysis also is meritless. Comparative juror analysis can be probative of whether a challenge was racially motivated, although it is more probative if the reason for the challenge is an objective characteristic, like age or profession. Caldwell v. Maloney, 159 F.3d 639, 653 (1<sup>st</sup> Cir. 1998), cert. denied, 526 U.S. 1009 (1999). Comparative juror analysis requires "side-by-side comparisons" of "black venire panelists who were struck and white panelists allowed to serve." Miller-El v. Dretke, 545 U.S. 231, 241, 125 S. Ct. 2317, 162 L. Ed. 2d 196 (2005); see also State v. Rhone, 168 Wn.2d 645, 657, 229 P.3d 752, cert. denied, 131 S. Ct. 522 (2010) (comparing the similarity between an African-American juror who was struck and a non-African-American juror who served on the jury).

Benson's claim that comparative juror analysis is required to analyze a Batson challenge is not supported by United States Supreme Court or Washington authority. Lower federal courts' decisions are not binding on Washington courts, and no Washington court has held that the trial court must conduct

comparative juror analysis when confronted with a Batson challenge. Panag v. Farmers Ins. Co., 166 Wn.2d 27, 47, 204 P.3d 885 (2009) ("Federal court decisions are guiding, but not binding, authority."); see also Rhone, 168 Wn.2d at 657 (applying comparative juror analysis but not requiring it); State v. Wright, 78 Wn. App. 93, 97, 896 P.2d 713, rev. denied, 127 Wn.2d 1024 (1995) (same).

In any event, such comparative analysis does not suggest purposeful discrimination in this case. In the trial court, the defense identified only Juror 6 as a comparable juror, indicating that the juror described an incident in which he received a citation. RP 622. Juror 6, however, described an incident where he lost control of his car on the freeway and crashed, police responded and he said, "treated me well." RP 614. That was not a negative experience with the police, and in fact Juror 6 did not respond when the judge asked whether jurors had had an extremely unpleasant experience with the police. RP 550.

On appeal, Benson cites the list of jurors who did answer the question that they had an unpleasant experience with the police as comparisons with Juror 9. However, the only juror from that list who served was Juror 16, who was never asked about what that

experience was and never discussed it. The additional juror who did describe a negative experience, Juror 28, was not seated and so could not be challenged, although the prosecutor stated that she was saving a peremptory challenge so she could challenge Juror 28 if the juror came into the jury box. RP 622-23.

Benson's claim that the State cannot strike a juror who has had a negative experience with the police and believes that it was racially motivated is without support in the law. App. Br. at 23. No authority is cited for that proposition and it directly contradicts the holding of Bishop, supra, quoted by Benson himself two paragraphs earlier: a criterion having a discriminatory racial impact is permitted by the Constitution, although one acting as a proxy does not. Bishop, 959 F.2d at 826.

The State's challenge to a juror who had a negative experience with the police makes sense given that the primary witnesses to Benson's intoxication were officers, and that Benson strongly disputed the officers' view of events and challenged the adequacy of their investigation. Unlike the reviewing court, the trial court had the opportunity to observe both the prosecutor and juror's demeanor, and concluded that the challenge was reasonable and in good faith. The best evidence relating to discriminatory intent

often is the demeanor of the attorney exercising the challenge, which is peculiarly within the province of the trial judge who observes it. Snyder, 552 U.S. at 477.

That the State did not inquire about Juror 9's unpleasant experience with police confirms that the State was not using unpleasant experiences with police as a proxy for race. Once Juror 9's extremely negative experience with police was revealed during questioning by defense counsel, however, and especially because the State could not question Juror 9 about the effect of that experience on her evaluation of the testimony of police officers, the State's challenge to that juror was race neutral.

The State did not harbor discriminatory intent, but rather the intent to empanel a jury that would treat the officers' testimony with the same fairness and impartiality as any other witness. Based on this record, the deferential standard of review, and the trial court's distinct advantage in assessing demeanor and credibility, Benson cannot show that the trial court clearly erred in denying the Batson challenge.

**2. THE DEFENDANT WAIVED ANY OBJECTION TO PROOF OF HIS OFFENDER SCORE BY EXPLICITLY AGREEING THAT IT WAS CORRECT.**

In a Supplemental Assignment of Error and Brief in Support, Benson contends that this case must be remanded for resentencing because the trial court disregarded the scoring provisions of RCW 9.94A.525, as interpreted by this Court in State v. Morales, 168 Wn. App. 489, 278 P.3d 668 (2012). That claim is without merit.

Legal errors in scoring may be raised for the first time on appeal. State v. Ross, 152 Wn.2d 220, 231, 95 P.3d 1225 (2004). However, Benson identifies no legal error that occurred at the sentencing hearing.<sup>3</sup> The trial court did not explain its interpretation of RCW 9.94A.525 because the issue was not presented to it – Benson agreed that his offender score should be calculated with the score of 9-plus. CP 59; 12-9-11RP 2, 9-10, 13.

Nine-plus is the maximum offender score class. RCW 9.94A.510. Serious traffic offenses are to be included in the offender score for felony DUI. RCW 9.94A.525(2)(e)(ii). Serious traffic offenses include nonfelony DUI, nonfelony physical control

---

<sup>3</sup> It is difficult to determine exactly what prior convictions may be the subject of this challenge, as this portion of the brief appears to refer to the facts of another case and cite that record. Appellant's Supplemental Brief at 6.

under the influence, and reckless driving. RCW 9.94A.030(44). Fourteen prior convictions for serious traffic offenses are listed on the judgment and sentence, not including the current reckless driving. CP 129.

A scoring challenge that is raised for the first time on appeal must show error of fact or law within the four corners of the judgment and sentence. State v. Ross, 152 Wn.2d at 231.

Benson's claim apparently is that the State did not prove the facts (the dates of release from incarceration, arrest, conviction and sentencing) necessary to establish that none of Benson's prior DUI, physical control, or other serious traffic convictions would wash out of his score because of a five-year crime-free period after the last release from any confinement pursuant to RCW 9.94A.525(e)(ii). This is a claim based on facts not included in the judgment and sentence, so it has been waived by Benson's agreement to his offender score in the trial court.

### **3. THE COMMUNITY CUSTODY TERM IMPOSED ON THE DUI CONVICTION MUST BE STRICKEN.**

The State concedes error in the community custody term that was imposed on the felony DUI conviction.

The length of the term of community custody is governed by statute:

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